

# Belvedere Medical Centre

### **Inspection report**

15 Albert Road Belvedere Kent DA17 5LQ Tel: 01322446700 www.belvederemedicalcentre.co.uk

Date of inspection visit: 10 February 2020 Date of publication: 27/03/2020

This report describes our judgement of the quality of care at this service. It is based on a combination of what we found when we inspected, information from our ongoing monitoring of data about services and information given to us from the provider, patients, the public and other organisations.

#### Ratings

<b>Overall rating for this location</b>	Good	
Are services safe?	Good	
Are services effective?	Good	
Are services caring?	Good	
Are services responsive?	Good	
Are services well-led?	Good	

# **Overall summary**

At the last inspection on 17 September 2015 the practice was rated as good for each of the key questions and was rated as good overall.

We carried out this inspection at Belvedere Medical Centre following our annual review of the information available to us including information provided by the practice. Our review indicated that there may have been a significant change to the quality of care provided since the last inspection.

This inspection looked at the following key questions Safe, Effective, Caring, Responsive and Well-Led.

We based our judgement of the quality of care at this service on a combination of:

- what we found when we inspected
- information from our ongoing monitoring of data about services and
- information from the provider, patients, the public and other organisations.

### We have rated this practice as good overall and good for all population groups.

We rated the practice as **good** for providing safe services because:

- The practice did not always have clear systems and processes to keep patients safe.
- The practice had systems in place to manage significant events and medicines and safety alerts. However, there was limited evidence of what they did to monitor the implementation of medicines and safety alerts. There was limited evidence that actions were recorded on the safety alert monitoring log.
- The practice had appropriate systems in place for the safe management of medicines.
- The practice learned and made improvements when things went wrong.

We rated the practice as **good** for providing effective services because:

- Care and treatment of patients was appropriate and met their needs and preferences.
- Childhood immunisation uptake rates were below the World Health Organisation (WHO) targets. Uptake rates for the vaccines given were below the minimum 90% target for three of four childhood immunisation uptake indicators. Following our inspection, the practice sent us

2019/20 CHIS performance figures for three of the four childhood immunisation uptake indicators published by Public Health England (PHE). The practice had achieved the minimum target in all three areas (for two-year olds).

- There was evidence of improvements made through quality improvement The practice monitored the outcomes of care and treatment.
- The practice was able to show that staff had the skills, knowledge and experience to carry out their roles.
- The practice was able to show that it always obtained consent to care and treatment.
- Some performance data was significantly below local and national averages. For example, performance indicators for mental health patients showed care and treatment had not always ensured their needs were met. Following our inspection, the practice sent us their QOF report for Mental Health which showed performance from April 2019 to January 2020 had improved.

At this inspection we inspected all six population groups. We rated all population groups as **good** in effective.

We rated the practice as **good** for providing caring and responsive services because:

- Staff dealt with patients with kindness and respect and involved them in decisions about their care.
- The practice organised and delivered services to meet patients' needs. Patients could access care and treatment in a timely way.
- The practice monitored patient satisfaction and they had identified themes in patient feedback. The practice had worked with the PPG to conduct a patient survey which was completed in October 2019.

We rated the practice as **good** for providing well-led services because:

- Leaders could show they had the capacity and skills to deliver high quality, sustainable care. Leaders had worked hard to stabilise the practice following the closure of a local practice and the influx of around 6,600 new patients.
- The practice had a clear vision, which was supported by a credible strategy.
- The practice culture supported high quality sustainable care.
- The overall governance arrangements were effective.

## **Overall summary**

- The practice had clear processes for managing risks, issues and performance. However, risks management in relation to patient safety required improvement.
- We saw evidence of systems and processes for learning, continuous improvement and innovation.

The areas where the provider **should** make improvements are:

- Continue to improve uptake of childhood immunisations and cervical screening.
- Review the staff vaccination policy to ensure it is maintained in line with current Public Health England (PHE) guidance.

- Continue to monitor patient satisfaction with telephone access, and take further action if necessary.
- Continue to ensure policies and procedures are followed; for example the safety alert protocol.
- Continue to monitor the number of carers on the register.

### Details of our findings and the evidence supporting our ratings are set out in the evidence tables.

Dr Rosie Benneyworth BM BS BMedSci MRCGP

Chief Inspector of Primary Medical Services and Integrated Care

### Population group ratings

Older people	Good
People with long-term conditions	Good
Families, children and young people	Good
Working age people (including those recently retired and students)	Good
People whose circumstances may make them vulnerable	Good
People experiencing poor mental health (including people with dementia)	Good

### Our inspection team

Our inspection team was led by a CQC Lead Inspector. The team included a GP Specialist Adviser.

#### Background to Belvedere Medical Centre

Belvedere Medical Centre (BMC) is located at 15 Albert Road, Belvedere, Kent DA17 5LQ. The practice is registered with the CQC to carry out the following regulated activities - diagnostic and screening procedures, treatment of disease, disorder or injury, family planning and maternity and midwifery services.

The practice provides NHS services through a Personal Medical Services (PMS) contract to 16,800 patients. The practice is part of the NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) which is made up of 28 general practices.

From September 2018, Belvedere Medical Centre (BMC) patient list increased rapidly over a seven-month period by 6600 new patients, to its current size of over 16,000 patients, due to a local GP practice closure. The practice told us QOF figures were skewed for year ending 31 March 2019 because of the new patient registrations.

The provider told us that the acquisition of 6600 patients in the latter half of the 2018/2019 QOF year did not allow BMC enough time to review and manage all the new patients as they would have liked to have done. BMC therefore negotiated with Bexley CCG payment for the 2018/2019 QOF year in accordance with its achievement for the preceding QOF year of 2017/2018. During this inspection, we discussed QOF with the provider and looked at a sample of patient records which included new patients who had come from the closed practice. The practice's clinical team is led by the provider (principal GP). The practice provides 41 GP clinical sessions per week and Nurse Practitioners provide an additional 16 clinical sessions a week. There are five female salaried GPs, one advanced nurse practitioner and two practice nurses and one assistant nurse practitioner. The practice employs two physician associates and one clinical pharmacist and a health care assistant. The non-clinical practice team consists of a practice manager, business manager and ten administrative or reception staff members.

The practice offers appointments on the day and books appointments up to two weeks in advance. The practice has appointments 7.00am to 8.00pm on Mondays and Wednesdays and from 7.00am to 6.30pm on Tuesday, Thursday and Friday. Belvedere Medical Centre stopped the Walk-in service in July 2018 and now offer an eConsult service. Patients who submit an eConsult on-line before 1.00pm will receive a response that day and if the clinicians who reviews the eConsult considers a patient needs to be seen that day or the next they will ensure an appointment is available. For urgent on-the-day access patients are required to complete an eConsult where a clinician would assess the eConsult and see patients as required. For Patients who need attention outside of these hours, receptionists can book appointments at the GP Hub at Queen Mary's Hospital or Erith District Hospital. For urgent medical attention when the medical centre is closed patients are directed to call the NHS 111 service.

The patient age profile for the practice is in line with the CCG average. Life expectancy for males is 79.1 years, which is below the CCG average of 80.1 years and the national average of 79.3 years. Life expectancy for

females is 84.3 years, which is below the CCG average of 84.5 years and above the national average of 83.2 years. Information published by Public Health England, rates the level of deprivation within the practice population group as six, on a scale of one to ten. Level one represents the highest levels of deprivation and level ten the lowest. The National General Practice Profile states that 75% of the practice population is from a white background.